In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V

ANTONIO CHAVEZ MOSES, III,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S258143

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 2 2 2020

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Appellate District Division Three, Case No. G055621 Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 16NF1413 The Honorable Julian Bailey, Judge

Deputy

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeal err in reversing defendant's conviction for human trafficking of a minor (Pen. Code, § 236.1, subd. (c)(1)) on the ground that defendant was communicating with an adult police officer posing as a minor rather than an actual minor?

INTRODUCTION

Sex traffickers often prey upon the most vulnerable members of society—children, and particularly children who are troubled. Due to the rise of the Internet, and the anonymity it provides, it has become increasingly difficult for law enforcement officers to catch these predators. For obvious reasons, officers are not able to use actual children as decoys. And so officers have posed as children in sting operations to lure out the would-be sex traffickers.

The voters who enacted Proposition 35, the Californians Against Sexual Exploitation Act (CASE Act), understood this dynamic all too well. That initiative amended Penal Code¹ section 236.1 both to increase the penalties for sex trafficking and to make the crime easier to prove when the victim is a minor. As relevant here, it amended subdivision (c) to provide in relevant part as follows: "Any person who causes, induces, or persuades, or attempts to cause, induce, or persuade, a person who is a minor at the time of commission of the offense to engage in a commercial sex act, with the intent to effect or maintain a violation of [certain enumerated sex offenses] is guilty of human trafficking." (Hereafter "section "236.1(c)," italics added.)

Appellant Antonio Chavez Moses III, a pimp, attempted to persuade a minor to work for him as a prostitute. Unbeknownst to appellant, however,

¹ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

the supposed minor was in fact a veteran Santa Ana vice detective. Appellant appealed his conviction for human trafficking of a minor under section 236.1(c), claiming he could only be charged with an attempted violation of that statute under section 664 because there was no actual minor. Focusing principally on the portion of the text requiring "a person who is a minor," a divided panel of the Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, agreed and reversed his conviction.

But read in context of the complete text, the better interpretation is that no actual minor is required. The express language of section 236.1(c) includes both completed acts as well as attempts to complete those acts as alternative elements. Hence, there is no basis for requiring the prosecution to prove an attempt to commit an attempt, something that one court has aptly described as a "legal merry-go-round." Contrary to the Court of Appeal majority's conclusion, the electorate that enacted section 236.1(c) did not intend to create some new type of criminal attempt that does not include a specific intent requirement or that is susceptible to a defense of factual impossibility. Instead, the most natural reading is that the word "attempts" in that statute means exactly what it has always meant in criminal law. Under well-established case authority, a person may be guilty of a criminal attempt regardless of whether it would ultimately be impossible to complete the crime, as long as the crime would have been completed under the facts as the defendant believed them to be true. Here, appellant specifically believed he was recruiting a minor for prostitution and he undertook a direct but ineffectual act to complete that goal. Nothing more was required to establish his guilt under section 236.1(c).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Appellant Seeks to Recruit Bella B. as a Prostitute

Hoping to attract the interest of a potential pimp, Detective Luis Barragan of the Santa Ana Police Department vice unit created a user profile for a female named "Bella B." on the social network site Tagged.com. (1RT 135, 155–156, 160, 170.) Tagged.com requires users to be over 18 to establish an account, so Detective Barragan listed Bella B. as a 21-year-old from Santa Ana. (1RT 157, 159.) To complete the profile, he uploaded a photograph he had obtained from the Internet. (1RT 160.)

On April 16, 2016, Bella received a text message sent from "FM Da Prince," saying "Good morning, Gorgeous." (1RT 171, 188.) The profile for FM Da Prince showed a photograph of appellant (1 RT 173; trial exh. 6), and a meme comprised of a photo of hundred dollar bills with the words, "Everybody wants love. I just want money and someone to get it with" (1RT 176). Over a series of weeks, Detective Barragan developed a relationship with appellant, texting back and forth often multiple times a day. (1RT 177; trial exh. 12 [81 pages of text messages].)

Assuming the role of Bella, Detective Barragan responded to appellant's initial messages by saying she was in Vallejo "chasing the paper"—a phrase commonly used in the prostitution subculture to indicate she was out hustling. (1RT 191.) Appellant replied, "You need to find your way to Daddy [a common expression for a pimp], your prince. I will make your life a whole lot easier, bet that." (1RT 192–193.)

After a series of exchanges in which Bella lamented that business was slow in Northern California, appellant responded, "Just get here, Boo. We can take it from there. Come as is. I'm a real one, not hard up for case. I need loyalty, trust, and understanding [followed by a dollar sign emoji]. Going to come. I got enough game in this brain to make us all rich." In

Detective Barragan's expert opinion, this latter text was significant because it was consistent with the beginning of a relationship between a pimp and a prostitute. (1RT 195.) In a follow-up text, appellant wrote: "I'm not a gorilla [i.e., a pimp who acts violently toward his prostitutes], nor am I what they call a pimp nowadays. I'm a true gentlemen [sic], baby, best believe and known all over the universe, real international." (1RT 196.)

Appellant sent Bella his telephone number and urged her to call. He also sent another series of texts inviting Bella to "fuck with me," or in other words, work for him. (1RT 200–201.) Bella responded that she would be back in Southern California the following Monday, and that she was "looking for a new start with someone who's smart." (1RT 203.) After more texts, including one in which Bella indicated she did not have a pimp, appellant again urged her to "get to Daddy," and he would step up her game to "at least \$1,000 a night." (1RT 207.)

B. Appellant Learns That Bella Is a Minor

The following day, April 17th, appellant sent Bella more text messages, and advised her to "tuck her trap," or hide her earnings from her pimp. (1RT 219.) He also promised to show her how to make \$470, which Bella had reported as her night's wages, in one or two tricks by going to bars and casinos. (1RT 220.)

In response, on April 18th, Bella told appellant that she could not go to bars and casinos because she was only 17 years old: "I feel a strong connection, good vibe from you. I'm struggling bad at this game maybe because I'm a youngster, too. Daddy, just know that I'm 17. Don't want to lie to you because you have been 100 with me from the get." (1RT 224.) Appellant asked when her birthday was and added, "Damn, Boo, Damn." (1RT 225.) Bella said her birthday was in November. (1RT 225.) Appellant replied, "I never fucked around like that. You not the police? This Internet shit got niggas knocked off. I'm not trying to go out like a

sucka. When's your birthday?" (1RT 226.) When Bella said her birthday was November 27, 1998, appellant replied, "Oh, you about to be 18. Cool, SMH [shake my head]." (1RT 226.) Bella gave appellant an opportunity to move on, saying, "I don't expect you to stick around. I get it, but just had to be true." (1RT 226.) However, appellant responded, "I got you as long as you keep it 100 always." Because Bella had previously said she was on the train back to Anaheim, appellant asked if she could get off in Los Angeles. (1RT 224, 227.) Bella did not respond to this message, and instead later texted him that she had arrived in Anaheim. (1RT 228.)

Over the next few days, there were miscellaneous exchanges regarding different prostitution tracks Bella was supposedly working in Orange County. (1RT 228-232.) Appellant had gone on to Las Vegas and so there was no immediate talk of meeting up, although they discussed trying to arrange a phone call. (1RT 233-235.)

C. Appellant Expresses Repeated Concerns Based on Bella Being a Minor

On April 27th, appellant called Detective Sonia Rojo, who was posing as Bella. (1RT 237, 239.) Appellant asked Bella when her birthday was; Rojo responded that it was in November. (3CT 675.) Appellant expressed concern that he would get in trouble, saying he was "scared as shit" because he knew a "homie in jail right now fighting life for that shit." (3CT 677.) When Rojo said she needed someone who would be there for her, appellant responded, "Yeah but I'm saying Bella, you got 7 months before you grown. Why don't we just wait like that?" (3CT 677.) The conversation ended with appellant saying that he might drive down from the San Fernando Valley to get her if she called him later. (3CT 678.) After this phone call, the two exchanged an additional 13 text messages over the course of the next week. (2RT 259.)

The next phone call occurred on May 5th. (1RT 251.) Appellant again asked when Bella's birthday was. When Rojo repeated that it was in November, appellant responded, "Yup. I'm just making sure you ain't telling me no lies, bitch. This is a risk." (3CT 683.) He explained that the risk was that Rojo might be working with the "po-po." (3CT 684.) Appellant threw out the possibility that Rojo could stay with her pimp until November. Rojo protested that she was "done" with him. (3CT 684.) Appellant replied, "Yeah but baby I don't wanna do the minor thing. That shit scares the fuck out of me." He again referenced his "homeboy" who had been "knocked at for the same shit." (3CT 385.) Appellant suggested another alternative: "I want to come get you bad as a mother fucker, but if I do, I'm going to have to take you to my momma[']s house until your birthday." (3CT 385.) Appellant offered to drive over to Rojo's location, but because Rojo knew she needed to assemble a team, she suddenly said she had to go and agreed to call him later that night. (3CT 686-687; 2RT 295.)

D. Despite His Concerns Regarding Her Age, Appellant Drives to Orange County to Pick Up Bella

Five days later, on May 10th, appellant and Rojo spoke again. Rojo told him she (Bella) was back in Orange County and asked appellant if he was going to pick her up. (3CT 689.) Appellant told her to get her belongings and agreed to meet her at a Jack-in-the-Box. (3CT 690.) A few hours later, appellant arranged to meet Bella at a McDonald's on Harbor in Anaheim. (3CT 697.) Rojo said that she would wait in the bathroom so that her pimp would not see her. (3CT 698.)

Appellant pulled into the parking lot of the McDonald's in a Mercedes, and waited for Bella to exit the bathroom. (1RT 121; 3CT 707.) Vice officers from the Anaheim Police Department were already staking out the location, waiting for him. (1RT 121.) At some point after he

parked and waited by the bathroom, appellant texted Bella, "I see you not real. That's fucked up." (2RT 226.) In another text, appellant wrote, "I knew better. SMH [shaking my head]." (2RT 227.) After a brief exchange with Rojo, appellant wrote, "You're the police, LMAO [laughing my ass off]." (2RT 327.)

Appellant drove out of the parking lot and officers conducted a traffic stop a short distance away. (1RT 125.) Officers retrieved an Alcatel cell phone from the car. (1RT 127.) Rojo sent the phone a text, and the phone vibrated; however, because the phone was password protected, the officers were unable to access its contents. (2RT 325, 331.) Detective Barragan called the number appellant had given and the phone lit up, displaying Barragan's cell number. (1RT 199.)

E. Business Records Demonstrate Appellant's Other Recruitment Efforts

Investigators obtained by warrant all of the text messages appellant had sent on Tagged.com, comprising over 1,000 pages of material. (1RT 186; 2RT 335.) Those records contained other examples of conversations with site users consistent with recruitment and pimping activity. (2RT 339, 348, 350.) Appellant sent solicitations to other users, generally advertising his services or identifying himself as a pimp who had the ability to increase earnings. (2RT 342–343, 356, 358.) In some messages, he sought to recruit women onto his "team" and appellant purported to have five women working for him. (2RT 345.)

F. An Orange County Jury Finds Appellant Guilty of Human Trafficking of a Minor

An Orange County jury found appellant guilty as charged of human trafficking of a minor (count 1; § 236.1(c)(1)); attempted pimping of a minor (count 2; §§ 266h, subd. (b)(1), 664); and pandering (count 3; § 266i, subd. (a)). (2CT 478–480.)

After a bifurcated hearing, the trial court found that appellant had previously suffered a prior strike (§§ 667, subd. (b)–(e), 1170.12). (4RT 703.) The court, however, found insufficient evidence to support four prior prison term convictions (§ 667.5, subd. (b)). (4RT 706.)

The trial court sentenced appellant to a total term of 24 years in prison, consisting of the aggravated term for count 1, which was doubled as a result of the strike prior. The court stayed midterm sentences for counts 2 and 3 under section 654. (4RT 737–738.)

G. A Divided Panel of the Court Of Appeal Reverses Appellant's Conviction for Human Trafficking of a Minor

Appellant appealed, asserting that his conviction for human trafficking had to be reversed based on the undisputed fact that the intended victim of his conduct was not a minor, but actually an undercover police officer. A divided panel of the Court of Appeal agreed. Writing for the majority, Justice Goethals reasoned that the language of section 236.1(c) requires as an element that the victim must be "a person who is a minor at the time of commission of the offense," and this requirement distinguishes attempted human trafficking from an ordinary criminal attempt defined in section 21a. (Slip opn. (opn.) 2.) Looking to section 236.1, subdivision (f), which forecloses the defense of a defendant's mistaken belief as to the age of a victim who is a minor, Justice Goethals determined that the defendant need not have the specific intent to traffic a minor, thus again distinguishing attempted sex trafficking under 236.1(c) from an ordinary criminal attempt. (Opn. 2.) The majority concluded it could not reduce the charged offense to an attempt under section 21a because, based on the instructions given, it could not determine whether the jury necessarily concluded appellant had the intent to traffic a minor. (Opn. 12.)

Accordingly, the majority reversed the sex trafficking conviction outright, and ordered the case remanded for resentencing. (Opn. 13.)

In dissent, Justice Aronson concluded that the majority opinion was inconsistent with how this Court and other appellate courts have interpreted similar criminal statutes that specifically penalize criminal attempts. (Dis. opn. of Aronson, J., at 1.) Punishing a sex trafficker such as appellant at one-half the prescribed punishment would also be inconsistent with the stated purposes of section 236.1. (*Id.* at 5-8.)

Justice Aronson took issue with the majority's conclusion that the attempt prong of section 236.1(c) is materially different from the general attempt statute. Contrary to the majority's construction, he concluded that section 236.1(c) has only two elements: (1) a specific intent to commit the proscribed offense and (2) the commission of a direct but ineffectual act towards its completion. (Dis. opn. of Aronson, J., at 8.) Further, even under the majority's construction, general attempt principles would still preclude factual impossibility from operating as a valid defense. (*Ibid.*)

As for the majority's reliance on subdivision (f), which precludes a mistake of age defense where the victim is "a minor at the time," Justice Aronson observed that the mistake of age defense would still be available for human trafficking crimes not involving actual minors. Consequently, it is not necessary to interpret section 236.1(c) as a nonattempt offense in order to harmonize it with section 236.1, subdivision (f). (Dis. opn. of Aronson, J., at 10.)

Finally, Justice Aronson noted that providing full punishment for those who attempt to traffic in children comported with the stated policies behind Proposition 35, which enacted section 236.1(c). As he observed, "Under the majority's construction . . . police preventative measures to ferret out online human traffickers such as the sting operation conducted here would come at the cost of either securing a conviction for a lesser

crime (attempt to attempt human trafficking) or putting an actual child in harm's way (by using an actual minor as the decoy)." (Dis. opn. of Aronson, J., at 11.)

ARGUMENT

I. AN ATTEMPT TO SEX TRAFFIC A MINOR UNDER SECTION 236.1(C) DOES NOT REQUIRE THE EXISTENCE OF AN ACTUAL MINOR

In amending section 236.1 in 2012 as part of Proposition 35, the electorate demonstrated its intent to prevent online predators from being able to sex traffic children. It specifically sought to combat this scourge by adding attempts as part of the new separate offense of child sex trafficking, thereby making the crime both easier to prove and also subject to greater punishment. By using the word "attempts," the electorate intended to give that term its typical legal meaning—a meaning that does not require the completion of any particular element. It would be antithetical to the plain language of the amendments to conclude that such an attempt could only be committed if the victim was actually a minor. The wording of the statute construed as a whole, including the requirement of a minor, supports this construction as a matter of accepted rules of grammar. The language of other subdivisions, including subdivisions (a) and (b), provides additional support, and nothing in subdivision (f) suggests otherwise. Finally, the electorate's findings and express intent in enacting the amendments, as well as the untenable consequences and juror confusion that would result from requiring the prosecution to charge an attempt to attempt to sex traffic a minor, reinforce this conclusion. Such a requirement would only matter in the context of a police sting, and there is no reason the electorate would have wanted to curtail these effective practices.

A. Principles of Statutory Interpretation Require This Court to Determine the Electorate's Intent

"In construing constitutional and statutory provisions, whether enacted by the Legislature or by initiative, the intent of the enacting body is the paramount consideration." (*People v. Gonzales* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 858, 868, quoting *In re Lance W.* (1985) 37 Cal.3d 873, 889.) In order to determine this intent, a reviewing court begins by examining the statutory language. (*People v. Pieters* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 894, 898.) "To the extent that uncertainty remains in interpreting statutory language, 'consideration should be given to the consequences that will flow from a particular interpretation' [citation], and both legislative history and the 'wider historical circumstances' of the enactment may be considered." (*People v. Cruz* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764, 782–783.) And while it is true as a general rule that ambiguities should be interpreted in the defendant's favor, this rule does not apply "if such an interpretation would provide an absurd result, or a result inconsistent with apparent legislative intent." (*Id.* at p. 783.)

In order to place the language of section 236.1 in appropriate context, it is important to consider both the overall structure of the statute as well as its wider historical circumstances. (*People v. Zambia* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 965, 977.)

B. The History and Text of Section 236.1 Reveal an Intent to Punish Mere Attempts to Sex Traffic When the Victims Are Children

The history of section 236.1 demonstrates a legislative intent to increase the penalties for sex trafficking, provide greater protection for children, and enable law enforcement officers to combat online predators.

Section 236.1 was added in 2005 as part of the California Trafficking Victims Protection Act. (Stats. 2005, ch. 240, § 7.) As originally enacted, the statute had both limited reach and also limited penalties. It proscribed

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