### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

ANTONIO CHAVEZ MOSES, III,

Defendant and Appellant.

No. S258143

Court of Appeal No. G055621

On Appeal from the Superior Court of Orange County (Case No. 16NF1413) The Honorable Julian Bailey, Judge

### **APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

MARK ALAN HART Attorney at Law PMB 520 9420 Reseda Blvd. Northridge, California 91324 Telephone: (818) 363-0419 E-Mail: hart66134@gmail.com State Bar #66134

Attorney for Appellant

### **

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

#### ARGUMENT

### I.

### PENAL CODE SECTION 236.1, SUBDIVISION (C), REQUIRES THE EXISTENCE OF A VICTIM WHO IS A MINOR IN ORDER TO CONVICT A DEFENDANT OF AN ATTEMPT UNDER THE STATUTE

Penal Code section 236.1. subdivision (c), may be violated only if there is a victim who is under age 18. A defendant who attempts to persuade a fictitious person to engage in an act described in the statute has not committed each element defined in the statute.

### A. The plain terms of Penal Code section 236.1, subdivision (c), include the required element that the victim must be a minor

Penal Code section 236.1, subdivision (c), states, in relevant part: "A person who causes, induces, or persuades, or attempts to persuade, a person who is a minor at the time of the commission of the offense to engage in a commercial sex act, with the intent to effect or maintain a violation of Section 266, 266h, 266i, 266j, 267, 311.1, 311.2, 311.4, 311.5, 311.6, or 518 is guilty of human trafficking." The statute includes two alternate prongs: a completed act and an attempt. The clear language of the statute defines the victim under each prong as a minor. A contrary interpretation contorts the English language. The phrase "a person who is a minor" is the object of each verb in the preceding phrase in the subdivision. Stated another way, "attempt" is a verb acting on the object, "a minor."

Therefore, an essential element of each prong of the statute is a victim who is a minor. As stated by the majority opinion of the Court of Appeal, emphasizing the definition of victim contained in the subdivision: "The plain terms of section 236.1(c) include as a required element that the victim must be 'a person who is a minor at the time of the commission of the offense."" (*People v. Moses* (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 757, 758, rev. granted. Nov. 26, 2019 (Case No. S258143.)<sup>1</sup> "A reviewing court may not add language to a statute [citation omitted]. So too we cannot subtract language from section 236.1(c)." (*Id.*, at p. 765.)

The interpretation of subdivision (c) in the opinion below is consistent with the unanimous reasoning of Division Four of the First Appellate District in People v. Shields (2018) 23 Cal.5th 1242, 1244-1245, 1252-1258, holding that human trafficking of a minor, as defined by subdivision (c), requires a minor. (People v. Moses, supra, at pp. 761-767.) The facts and procedural history in *Shields* are similar to appellant's case. Shields accepted a request on social media to become a friend of a fictional 17-year-old prostitute. The fictional person was created by an adult police detective. Shields encouraged the fictional person to work for him in the commercial sex trade. Police arrested Shields at a place where Shields had arranged to meet the fictional person. (*People v. Shields, supra, at pp. 1244-1247.*) A jury convicted Shields of "human trafficking of a minor for a sex act, pandering, and attempted pimping of a minor over the age of 16." (Id., at p. 1248.) The human trafficking count was based on the language in section 236.1, subdivision (c), criminalizing an attempt to cause, induce or persuade a person who is a minor to engage in commercial sex. (Id., at pp. 1249-1250,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In a divided opinion filed by a different panel of the same Division that decided *Moses*, the Court of Appeal disagreed with the *Moses* majority and affirmed a conviction for violation of Penal Code section 236.1, subdivision (c), based on facts similar to this case. (*People v. Clark* (2019) 43 Cal.App.5th 270, rev. granted. 3-11-20, deferred pending consideration and disposition of *Moses*. (Case No. S260202; cited pursuant to Rule 8.1115(e)(2).)

1253.) The *Shields* Court held "the absence of an actual victim precludes a conviction for the completed offense of human trafficking of a minor." (*Id.*, at p. 1253.)

Respondent interprets the attempt prong of the statute by treating the "person who is a minor" language as not adding a required element. Instead, respondent relies solely on the elements required to prove an attempt under the general law governing attempts, which does not require an actual victim. (Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits (hereinafter "OBM") 26-27.) An attempt under the general law requires two elements, specific intent to commit the target offense, and a direct but ineffectual act toward the commission. (Pen. Code § 21a.) Respondent cites examples of cases involving attempts that either did not involve an actual victim or did not identify a victim: *People v. Reed* (1996) 53 Cal.App.4th 389, rev. den. 3-12-97, and *People v. Herman* (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 1369. (OBM 26-27.)

Respondent's reliance on *Reed* is misplaced. In *Reed*, the defendant placed an ad in a magazine seeking sexual relations a woman of any age, race or size. He included a photo of a nude male having an erection, but with the male's face blocked out. A sheriff's detective began a correspondence with the defendant. The detective represented himself as a woman looking for a man to educate her daughters, aged 12 and 9. After additional correspondence about what the defendant wanted, the detective enlisted the aid of a female deputy sheriff to pose as the mother and telephone the defendant. (*Id.*, at pp. 393-395.) After additional correspondence and telephone the female deputy telephoned the defendant and arranged a meeting at a motel. The female deputy was in one room while the detective monitored the meeting from an adjoining room using surveillance equipment. The defendant came to the motel room and talked with the deputy

about what he would do with the girls. This included reference to intercourse. After the deputy asked if he brought anything with him, the defendant retrieved items from his car, including sex toys, vibrators, dildos and lubricating jelly. After the deputy asked the defendant if he was prepared to meet the girls, the defendant said that is why he came. She led him into the adjoining room where the detective arrested him and feigned the arrest of the deputy. (*Id.*, at p. 395.)

The defendant in *Reed* was convicted of attempted violation of the molestation statute (Pen Code §§ 664/288, subd. (a)). (*Id.*, at p. 393.) The Court of Appeal rejected his argument that there can be no attempt to molest a child without an actual child victim. (*Id.*, at pp. 396-397.) The Court held the defendant's acts supported conviction of attempt because the defendant harbored a specific intent to commit the crime and a fact finder could reasonably find his actions went beyond mere preparation. (*Id.*, at pp. 397-399.)

The facts and analysis in *Reed* do not apply to appellant's case. Reed was not convicted of a completed violation of the molestation statute. Unlike the defendant in *Reed*, appellant was not charged under section 664.

Respondent's reliance on *Herman* is also misplaced. The part of the *Herman* opinion dealing with attempt involved attempted lewd conduct on multiple victims. The Court of Appeal held the evidence was sufficient to convict the defendant of attempted lewd acts even without an attempt to touch the victims. The defendant made vulgar phone calls to the victims, made various sexual proposals to the victims and asked victims to meet him at a park. The jury also heard evidence the defendant molested his stepdaughters thirty years earlier. The evidence supported a finding of acts constituting steps toward execution of the defendant's criminal intent. (*Id.*, at pp. 1385-

1392.)

The facts and analysis in *Herman* do not apply to appellant's case for the same reason *Reed* does not apply. The crimes at issue were attempts to violate Penal Code section 288, not completed violations. In addition, *Herman* involves prosecution for attempts directed at actual victims. (*People v. Herman, supra,* at p. 1385.)

Respondent disputes the Court of Appeal majority's discussion of the plain language of the statute by arguing the court and appellant "artificially bisect the operative statutory language and read it in an unnatural manner so that the attempt language is a stand-alone requirement that does not modify the supposedly separate requirement of an actual minor." (OBM 36.) Respondent notes that, while an attempt traditionally requires criminal intent an ineffectual act toward the crime, the majority adds an element that the victim be a minor. Respondent's analysis is "attempts" is a transitive verb. The object of the verb is a minor. Therefore, respondent states the clauses must be read "as part of a single grammatical unit." (OBM 37.) From this, respondent concludes the statute does not require an attempt plus the additional element of the existence of a minor. (OBM 37-38.) Respondent gives an example of the phrase "She smells the pizza" and suggests dividing the verb from the object leaves an incorrect reading of the phrase. (OBM 37-38, fn. 5.)

Contrary to respondent's interpretation, the Court of Appeal majority's analysis is consistent with the plain wording of subdivision (c). A person who is a minor is a necessary element. An example that is more appropriate than respondent's pizza example would be a case where "she smells pizza" but there is no pizza.

Appellant is not isolating the verb from the object. On the contrary,

the language of the statute adds the element that the victim be a person who, at the time of the commission of the offense, is a minor. The operative verbs apply to each prong of the statute. (*People v. Moses, supra,* at p. 765.) The attempt prong of subdivision (c) "is distinct from the separate crime of attempt because a completed violation of the statute requires a person under the age of 18 while an attempt to violate the statute does not." (*People v. Shields, supra,* at p. 1257.)

The additional element of an actual minor was added by the electorate when it adopted the statute by initiative. (*People v. Moses, supra,* at p. 763, citing *People v. Shields, supra,* at p. 1249.) "The words chosen by the enacting body best indicate what the stature means. (*People v. Moses, supra,* at p. 765, citing *People v. Ramirez* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 1233, 1238, rev. den. 9-15-10.) As explained by Presiding Justice O'Leary, agreeing with the reasoning of *Shields* and the *Moses* majority in her dissenting opinion in *Clark,* the unambiguous wording of the statute requires evidence of an actual minor to sustain a conviction under either prong of the statute. (*People v. Clark, supra,* at pp. 298-300, dis. opn. of O'Leary, P.J.).) "[I]t is not the defendant's unsuccessful efforts to cause, induce, or persuade a minor to engage in a commercial sex act that prevents the crime from being completed, it is the nonexistence of a minor, a necessary element of each prong." (*People v. Clark, supra,* at p. 300, dis. opn. of O'Leary, P.J.).)

## **B.** Penal Code section 236.1, subdivision (c), is not analogous to cases cited by respondent punishing an attempt the same as a completed act

Penal Code section 236.1, subdivision (c), does not incorporate broader principles of attempt jurisprudence. The issue in this case is one of sentence structure, not whether the statute punishes an attempt the same as a completed crime.

Respondent relies on statutes providing for the same punishment for a completed crime and attempt to commit that crime. Respondent directs this Court to three examples: attempt to escape from custody, preventing or dissuading a witness or victim, and federal law punishing attempt to entice a minor for illegal sexual activity. (OBM 28-33.) As appellant explains herein, these cases are distinguishable.

Respondent relies on cases involving attempt to escape from custody. (OBM 29-30, citing People v. Gallegos (1974) 39 Cal.App.3d 512, 515-518, and People v. Bailey (2012) 54 Cal.4th 740, 749-751.) These cases did not hold, nor did the prosecution claim below, that escape statutes apply to someone who attempts an escape while falsely believing they are in custody in a facility listed in the statute. (2 CT 408-410.) Gallegos involved the intent required to violate Penal Code section 4532, subdivision (b), which proscribes escape or attempt to escape from certain penal institutions. The Court of Appeal held, while escape is a general intent crime, an attempt to escape is a specific intent crime. The court agreed with the defendant that the jury should have been instructed an attempt requires a specific intent and a direct but ineffectual act toward commission of the crime. (People v. Gallegos, supra, at pp. 516-517.) Respondent focuses on language rejecting the prosecution's argument that only a general intent was required because the punishment for attempted escape was specifically provided in section 4532. (OBM 29.) In *Bailey*, this Court considered Penal Code section 4530, subdivision (b), which also proscribes escape or attempt to escape from a specified institution. (*People v. Bailey, supra*, at pp. 748.) This Court agreed with Gallegos on the issue of specific intent. (Id., at pp. 749-750.) The prosecution in *Bailey* proceeded on the theory there had been a completed

crime. The court did not instruct the jury with attempt as a lesser included offense of escape. (*Id.*, at pp. 745-746, 752.) This Court held, under the elements test, attempt to escape is not a lesser included offense because the attempt requires proof of intent. Therefore, if evidence of a completed crime is insufficient, a reviewing court could not order the judgment modified to an attempt conviction. (*Id.*, at pp. 750-751.)

Nothing in *Gallegos* or *Bailey* holds use of the word "attempt" in a statute necessarily incorporates broader attempt law jurisprudence. Section 236.1, subdivision (c), differs from section 4532 in that the intent requirement is stated in the attempt prong of human trafficking, but not for the attempt prong of escape. For that reason, the *Gallegos* Court looked beyond the statute and considered collateral authority relating to attempts in general and this Court in *Bailey* considered the attempt language in section 4530 as written in that statute. By contrast, the *Shields* Court explained the intent required to commit human trafficking of a minor is included in the statute itself, not in collateral authority. (*People v. Shields, supra,* at p. 1250.)

Respondent relies on cases interpreting Penal Code section 136.1, subdivision (a)(2), a section proscribing preventing or dissuading a witness or victim. (OBM 31-32, citing *People v. Kirvin* (2014) 231 Cal.App.4th 1507, 1519 (each attempt is a separate crime) & *People v. Foster* (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 331, 335, rev. den. 12-19-07 (the law is intended to include threats to a witness by others on behalf of the crime perpetrator).) The statute punishes a person who attempts an act described in the statute "without regard to success or failure of the attempt." (Pen. Code § 136.1, subd. (d).) The act must be directed at a witness or victim. (Pen. Code § 136.1, subds. (a) & (b).)

These cases do not hold the statute can be violated if someone

attempts to prevent or dissuade a decoy who is not a victim or witness. Respondent compares the crime in those cases to Penal Code section 236.1, subdivision (c), because the crime of attempting to persuade a witness is complete once the defendant communicates with an intermediary, even if the communication never reaches a victim or witness. (OBM 31-32.) In the opinion below, the Court of Appeal explained how the two statutes are not analogous because section 236.1, subdivision (c), on its face, requires a victim who is a minor at the time of the crime, while section 136.1 does not require any special definition of victim. Respondent's argument has the effect of deleting "a person who is a minor at the time of the offense" from section 236.1, subdivision (c). (*People v. Moses, supra*, at p. 766.) Respondent focuses on the absence of a requirement that the communication reach an intended victim, while ignoring the definition of the victim included in the statute. As the Court of Appeal explains: "Such an interpretation here would be akin to paring from statutes designed to protect peace officers the element that the victim must be a peace officer." (*People v. Moses, supra,* at p. 766, citing Penal Code §§ 241, subd. (c), & 243, subd. (b).) Foster illustrates the difference. In Foster, the Court of Appeal explained the Legislature could have adopted a narrow definition of attempt "by requiring that the act be committed in the presence of the witness or that the commission be personally delivered by the defendant." (People v. Foster, *supra*, at p. 337.) That is what the electorate did when enacting section 236.1, subdivision (c).

Respondent relies on cases interpreting a federal statute criminalizing persuading or attempting to persuade a minor to engage in prostitution or sexual activity. (18 U.S.C. § 2422, subd. (b).) Respondent cites cases holding an actual minor is not required for an attempt conviction under that

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